IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 22-CV-354



Clerk of the Court Received 01/23/2023 05:06 PM Resubmitted 01/24/2023 09:30 AM Filed 01/24/2023 09:30 AM

KAREN HILL, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS Filed C ADMINISTRATOR AND PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF FRANK HANKINS

Appellants,

v.

CAPITAL DIGESTIVE CARE, PLLC, *et al.* Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia The Honorable Judge Heidi Pasichow, Superior Court Judge Superior Court No. 2018-CA- 4998 M (Civil Division)

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INCLUDING THE TERM "PROXIMATE CAUSE" ON THE VERDICT FORM.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING APPELLEES TO ADVANCE THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CRAFTING A VERDICT FORM THAT ASKED THE JURY TO BOTH FIND THAT THE APPELLEES FAILED TO OBTAIN INFORMED CONSENT AND FURTHER TO ASK IF THE FAILURE TO OBTAIN INFORMED CONSENT WAS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE DAMAGES.
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT AND/OR FOR NEW TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medical malpractice action brought by the Appellants, Karen Hill, individually and as Administrator and Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank Hankins, against Appellees Capital Digestive Care, PLLC and George Bolen, M.D. Appellants alleged that the Appellees, a gastroenterologist and his business entity, failed to appreciate the medication list provided by the Decedent prior to an upper endoscopy and colonoscopy procedure and then negligently and without the Decedent's informed consent ordered him to discontinue his blood thinner medication, Plavix. It was alleged that as a result of the discontinuation of the Plavix, Decedent developed a blood clot in his leg, which ultimately lead to amputation and his death.

The case was filed on July 13, 2018 and tried before the Honorable Heidi Pasichow on August 31, 2021. Prior to the trial, the parties had submitted proposed jury instructions and verdict forms to the trial court. Due to the COVID pandemic, this trial was continued and numerous pre-trial conferences and Webex meetings were held between counsel and the Court. Preliminary motions were argued and the court request supplementations and modifications to the parties' pre-trial submissions in accordance with its rulings. At the trial, the Appellants offered expert testimony on the national standard of care by a gastroenterologist concerning the breaches of Dr. Bolen, as well as expert testimony on causation. The experts offered by Appellants were not challenged via voir dire and were accepted as experts. Appellees also offered expert testimony. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned a verdict in which it found that Appellees had deviated from the standard of care but that such deviations did not "proximately" cause damages and that Appellees failed to obtain informed consent but that such a failure did not "proximately" cause damage. Appellants timely filed a Motion for Judgment

Notwithstanding the Verdict. Appellants' post-trial motion was denied, and Judgment was entered on September 9, 2021, in favor of the Appellees, and this Appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Statement of Facts and Evidence Presented at Trial

This is a medical malpractice action that stems from the care and treatment that Frank Hankins ("Decedent") received from George Bolen, M.D. at Capital Digestive Care, PLLC ("Appellees") on March 1, 2016. Decedent underwent and upper endoscopy and colonoscopy ("the Procedure") on that date. (App. 1547 -1551). Prior to undergoing the Procedure, Decedent informed Appellees that he was on the blood thinner Plavix, and it was noted in the chart.

Plavix 75 mg tablet

2 days ago Do not resume

(Pl. Ex. 1)(App. 1545).

It is undisputed that Dr. Bolen did not review the medication reconciliation form that documented Decedent's Plavix use prior to the Procedure. (T.T. p. 137)(App. 1224). It is undisputed that Dr. Bolen ordered Decedent to discontinue his Plavix after the Procedure. (App. 145 Initial Joint Pretrial Stipulation). It is undisputed that Dr. Bolen never spoke to Decedent's prescribing health care providers nor Decedent after the Procedure to advised him of the risks and benefits of discontinuing his Plavix. (App. 145 Initial Joint Pretrial Stipulation)(T.T. Day 4 p. 153)(App. 1260).

On March 6, 2016, Decedent presented to the Emergency Department at Washington Hospital Center due to severe pain in his leg. Radiology studies demonstrated that a previously placed peripheral stent in his calf had become occluded from a blood clot. At that time, there was no evidence of ischemia to the leg, and he was advised to resume his Plavix and to consult with his treating physician. Decedent followed those directions and was scheduled to undergo a procedure. Prior to the scheduled procedure date, however, Decedent began to decline and sought treatment at Washington Hospital Center on April 5, 2016. By this point in time, his leg had become ischemic due to the occluded stent. The leg was amputated; however, Decedent did not recover from this second procedure and ultimately passed away on April 23, 2016.

After complying with the District of Columbia Medical Malpractice notice requirements, Appellants instituted this lawsuit on July 13, 2018. (App. 36). A companion lawsuit was filed on July 16, 2018 (App. 46), and both suits were consolidated on October 3, 2018. (App. 76 - 79). Appellees filed their Amended Answers on November 8, 2018. (App. 80 - 95).

After the close of discovery, Appellants filed "Plaintiffs' Motion in *Limine* to Preclude Defendants from Arguing Actions Taken Before March 1, 2016 by the Plaintiff Form the Basis of Contributory Negligence," which was briefed by all parties. (App. 96 - 124). On February 26, 2021, the trial court issued its ruling on all motions in *limine* and denied Plaintiffs' motion to preclude argument on contributory negligence. (App. 125 - 137).

On June 15, 2021, the parties submitted the original Joint Pretrial Statement. (App. 138). Appellants than filed "Plaintiffs' Proposed Verdict Form" on June 21, 2021. (App. 172). Appellees also filed "Defendants' Proposed Verdict Form" on June 21, 2021. (App. 176). On June 29, 2021, at the direction of the trial court, the parties filed their "Supplemental Submission Following Pre-Trial Conference," to address some of the issues raised during the Pre-Trial Conference held on June 22, 2021. (App. 178 – 189). In addition to this document, the trial court requested additional submissions to be provided during the Pre-Trial Conference. Appellees submitted their submissions on July 14, 2021 and Appellants submitted their submissions on August 11, 2021. (App. 241 - 288). On August 23, 2021, the trial court issued its Final Pretrial Order. (App. 289 - 335). Trial then commenced on August 31, 2021.

On September 1, 2021, Appellants called as their first witness Todd Eisner, M.D. (T.T. Day 2 p. 49)(App. 703). Dr. Eisner was qualified as an expert witness in the field of gastroenterology without objection. (T.T. Day 2 p. 50 – 57)(App. 704 -711). During his testimony, Plaintiffs' Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, and 11 were admitted into evidence without objection. (T.T. Day 2. P. 59)(App. 713). Dr. Eisner testified within a reasonable degree of medical certainty as to the violations of the standard of care on the part of Dr. Bolen:

That there was a deviation from the standard of care in not knowing before the colonoscopy that the claimant was on Plavix, and that there was a deviation from the standard of care in having the patient stop the Plavix after the polypectomy without going into with other physicians why the patient was on the Plavix.

(T.T. Day 2. P. 60)(App. 714).

In anticipation of Appellees argument that it was reasonable for Dr. Bolen to have relied upon the list of medications that had been provided by Decedent at the preceding visit over one month prior to the Procedure, Dr. Eisner testified that:

No, it was not acceptable. That was sometime in January, I believe around the 20th of January. And certainly medications that patients are taking can change in a day or two, but they can change certainly in a six-week period.

(T.T. Day 2 p. 61)(App. 715). Dr. Eisner further testified that the standard of care of a gastroenterologist who became aware of a patient on Plavix the day of the procedure presented three possible actions: 1) cancel the procedure; 2) conduct the colonoscopy and if you remove a polyp then "use clips to close the defects where the polyp was removed to decrease the chance that the patient is going to have a post polypectomy bleed;" or 3) "assess with whoever is prescribing the Plavix, what the

risks and benefits would be of continuing the Plavix after the procedure or stopping

the Plavix or using another agent to help keep the blood thin." (T.T. Day 2 P. 62 - 63)(App. 716 - 717). He further testified that in this patient "the standard of care would require speaking with the physician who is prescribing the Plavix and assess whether the Plavix needs to be restarted or not." (T.T. Day 2 p. 65)(App. 719).

Dr. Eisner also discussed the required conversation of a gastroenterologist who orders the discontinuation of Plavix. (T.T. Day 2. P. 68 - 70)(App. 722 - 724). Included in the required conversation needed for Dr. Bolen to have obtained informed consent, Dr. Eisner stated the following:

So the option before the procedure would have been to tell the patient that, you know, we can stop your Plavix if it's okay to stop the Plavix with your treating provider, or we can do – if they don't want you to stop the Plavix, then we can do the colonoscopy on the Plavix, hopefully you won't have a large polyp. If you do, then I can either take it out with an increased risk of bleeding or we can repeat the colonoscopy with you stopping the Plavix and maybe going on a blood thinner that can be stopped for a shorter period of time.

• • •

Because the last thing we want to do is have the patient stop the Plavix, have a normal colonoscopy, and then the patient has a stroke or throws a clot to his leg because they stop the Plavix that didn't even need to be stopped for the procedure....

(T.T. Day 2 p. 68 – 69)(App. 722 – 723).

Appellants then called Jeffrey Jim, M.D. (T.T. Day 2 p. 83)(App. 737). Dr. Jim was qualified as an expert witness in the field of vascular surgery and accepted by the trial court without objection. (T.T. Day 2 p. 83 – 94)(App. 737 - 748). Dr. Jim

was called to testify to the causative effects of discontinuing Decedent's Plavix. Dr. Jim offered his testimony within a reasonable degree of medical certainty. Specifically, Dr. Jim offered the following general causation testimony on Plavix:

So what the Plavix essentially does is it works on the platelets to really minimize the opportunity for them to clump together and stick to things. So really think of blood vessels in the body – and the way I explain to my patients is look at, you know, pipes in the walls wherever you're sitting at; at your home, in the courtroom, in some building, there are – you want things to flow along.

If you put somebody on Plavix, the stuff that's flowing – the blood – will be a lot less sticky, so they're not going to have as much likelihood to stick to each other, against the stents, against the wall of the blood vessels, and because you do that, things will hopefully keep flowing longer.

(T.T. Day 2 p. 97) (App. 751).

Dr. Jim then testified that on March 6, 2016, when Decedent presented to

Washington Hospital Center, Decedent "certainly [had] some level of limb ischemia,

but certainly was not what we call critical limb ischemia." (T.T. Day 2 p. 102)(App.

756). He further testified that "once the stent is occluded, it's pretty much occluded.

So it's still occluded at that point from earlier in the month to where it is now." (T.T.

Day 2 p. 103)(App. 757). Dr. Jim then offered his specific opinions on the causative

effect of the discontinuation of Decedent's Plavix:

Q. In your opinion, Doctor, what was the cause of the clot, the vascular occlusion in his legs?

- A. Yeah, I think stopping the Plavix and having it run out, as you expect in that time frame, that ultimately made things clot in the preexisting stent that was already in the leg.
- Q. And, Doctor, what was the cause of the amputation that took place?
- A. It's the inability to to perform the procedure to reestablish blood flow again and ultimately he ended up not having enough blood flow and it needed to be removed.
- Q. And, Doctor, again, how do you if at all, how do you go from vascular occlusion to death in this case? Explain that for us, please.
- A. Sure. I mean, I think it's, again, sort of knowing what happened in the event. He ultimately had a severe enough symptom that required a treatment. The decision was made to proceed with treatment and the it became – he developed complications from that treatment, and it started leading to a pretty bad spiral that the – you know, weren't able to get him out of.
- • •
- Q. My question to you, sir, is had the Plavix been continued, not stopped after the colonoscopy, more likely than not would the clot have formed when it did?
- A. No, I I I've got to say this correctly. I if the Plavix and the medications were continued, more likely than not, we would not be talking about a clotted stent.
- Q. Let me ask you also, Doctor, about the if there's any significance with respect to that when the clot did form after the Plavix was stopped five or six days afterwards, what is the significance of that, if any?
- A. Sure. So we know that you know, we're pretty comfortable knowing how long it takes for Plavix to be out of the system. And the reason we know this is I'm a – I'm a vascular

surgeon, so as weird as this sounds, I will take bleeding any day over clotting, but most of my other surgical colleagues don't think of it the same way.

So, for them, it's really important before doing an operation they want to stop the Plavix and have it out of the system. So it's pretty well known you stop it for about five to seven days before an operation before you do something elective.

So in this particular case it really fit into it almost perfectly or imperfectly, I guess, in a clinical sense where you stop the medication and the medication wears off as you would normally hope for five to seven days. In this case, obviously, not what we hoped, but it actually kind of fit.

• • •

- Q. Okay. And, Doctor, again, within a reasonable degree of medical probability or certainty, if the occlusion had not happened, is there any reason to believe that this man would have died when he did?
- A. No, there's no reason for him to have gone to go get more work done on his legs if everything is open. Because it was open, the reason they had to do something was because he had, you know, poor blood flow in that leg and then needed – you, know, had symptoms and then needed something to be done.

(T.T. Day 2 p. 114 – 117)(App. 768 - 771).

During re-direct, Dr. Jim was also asked about whether the re-administration

of Plavix was a cause of the ultimate occlusion:

Q. All right. Doctor, also look at your deposition that you were asked about, on page 135 you were asked about aspirin. And the very next question that you weren't asked by Mr. Goodson, it says – on line 136 – page 136, line 4: Is it accurate that whether he was taking aspirin or not, if he had taken the Plavix beginning back on – following the procedure on March 1, that more likely than not he would not have had the occlusion. And your answer was yes.

Is that still your testimony today?

A. Yes.

(T.T. Day 2 p. 141)(App. 795).

After the close of Appellants' case, Appellees called Michael Miller, M.D. as an expert witness in the field of cardiology without objection. (T.T. Day 3 p. 29)(App. 898). Appellees utilized Dr. Miller to advance a theory of contributory negligence for discontinuing the Aspirin that he was prescribed. (T.T. Day 3. P. 46 - 49)(App. 915 - 919).

On cross-examination, Dr. Miller agreed that Decedent had hyperlipidemia. (T.T. Day 3 p. 57)(App. 926). He was then confronted with his own published study that documented that "Risk factors for coronary heart disease may contribute to aspirin resistance. Inability of Aspirin to protect individuals from thrombotic complication. So aspirin may not be cardio protective in patients with hyperlipidemia." (T.T. Day 3 p. 58 – 59)(App. 927 - 928). Dr. Miller's own study found that 69% of patients with hyperlipidemia had poor responsiveness to aspirin and 86% of patients with poor responsiveness to aspirin were taking lipid lowering therapies such as Decedent was taken. (T.T. Day 3. P. 60 – 61)(App. 928 - 929). Despite efforts to deflect from his own research, Dr. Miller ended up agreeing that

he "wrote this because he thought other doctors should know about it." (T.T. Day 3. P. 63)(App. 932). Dr. Miller also testified that Plavix is "better than aspirin for platelet aggregation, but for inflammation aspirin far – is far superior to Plavix." (T.T. Day 3 p. 64)(App. 933). Dr. Miller also testified as follows as to the relationship between Plavix and Aspirin:

Q. But, Doctor, the Plavix – the purpose of the Plavix is to help prevent the development of the clot versus the inflammation, correct?

A. Correct. Both Plavix and aspirin do that.

(T.T. Day 3 p. 66 – 67)(App. 935 - 936).

Appellees next called Richard Bloomfeld as an expert witness in the field of gastroenterology to offer testimony on the standard of care who was admitted without objection. (T.T. Day 3 p. 107)(App. 976). Dr. Bloomfeld was called primarily to assert that Decedent was negligent for failing to inform Dr. Bolen of his medications during the January of 2016 office appointment. (T.T. Day 3 p. 112 – 147)(App. 981 - 1016). Dr. Bloomfeld testified that "not being on Plavix is associated with a high risk of platelet aggregation, yes." (T.T. Day 3 p. 203)(App. 1072). Additionally, Dr. Bloomfeld agreed that stopping the Plavix was a contributing factor to the development of the blood clot:

Q. Let's see if you can go this far, Doctor. You agree with me that stopping the Plavix and not having the Plavix for the

week was probably a contributing factor to the development of the blood clot, can you go that far?

- A. Um –
- Q. Or can't you do that?
- A. Yeah, I I would agree that he was off Plavix when it happened, but I don't think I'm the expert here to talk about, you know, how much that contributed. So I'm unable to say how much, you know, being off Plavix contributed to that thrombosis.

(T.T. Day 3 p. 204 – 205)(App. 1073 - 1074).

Finally, Appellees called Ying Wei Lum, M.D. as an expert witness in the field of vascular surgery and he was admitted without objection. (T.T. Day 3 p. 208 -212)(App. 1077 - 1081). Dr. Lum testified that "Plavix is a blood thinner, I like to describe it to my patients as something stronger than aspirin." (T.T. Day 3 at 225)(App. 1094). Dr. Lum further testified that it is important to discontinue Plavix at least five days before a procedures because, "[i]t takes about five days for the medication to be completely out of the system and for its effects on the - on the platelets, which is the type of blood that it impacts to all be resolved;" (T.T. Day 3 p. 227 - 228)(App. 1096 - 1097); and "Stopping Plavix two days before the procedure probably decreases the risk of bleeding by a little bit, but it's not as much as stopping it, I'd say, five to seven days before the procedure. Because Plavix circulates in your blood and effects of Plavix remains for five to seven days;" (T.T. Day 4 p. 14)(App. 1121).

On cross-examination, Dr. Lum conceded causation in this matter:

- Q. Do you agree that Mr. Hankins died of multi- multiple organ system failure?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you agree that the multiple organ system failure was in part caused by the Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia?
- A. That's what it states in the death certificate.
- • •
- Q. Okay. Do you agree that the multiple organ system failure was in part caused by the vascular occlusion?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And do you agree that the vascular occlusion was in part caused by the discontinuation of Plavix and aspirin?

Ms. Chrostowski: Objection to form.

BY Mr. Matthew Nace:

- Q. Within a reasonable degree of medical probability.
- A. The discontinuation of both aspirin and Plavix?
- Q. Yes. Was that a cause of the vascular occlusion?
- A. Yes, when you stop both aspirin and Plavix it caused the blockages.

(T.T. Day 4 p. 30 – 31)(App. 1137 - 1138).

Dr. Bolen was the final witness called in this matter. (T.T. Day 4 p. 61)(App.

1168). Dr. Bolen even testified that removal of Plavix can cause a blood clot to form:

- Q. And you understood that if somebody was going to develop a clot from being off of Plavix, it was probably going to happen in the first five to seven days; isn't' that correct?
- A. Well, it can happen at any time. But it takes about five days for the effects of Plavix to wear off, so it could be up to 10 to 14 days after that.

(T.T. Day 4 p. 157-58)(App. 1264 - 1265). Dr. Bolen further testified that had he

known the patient was on Plavix before the Procedure, he would not have conducted

the Procedure and/or would not have removed the polyp, which necessitated his

order to discontinue the Plavix:

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