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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the jury's judgment in favor of Defendants and the trial court's denial of Plaintiff's Motion for a JNOV and/or a New Trial. As detailed below, it is respectfully submitted that Plaintiff's contentions on appeal are wholly without merit.

Specifically, the facts and the record are clear: 1) Plaintiff's objections regarding the jury verdict form are unpreserved on appeal; 2) the trial court's inclusion of the phrase "proximate cause" in the verdict form was not an abuse of discretion; 3) even if including the phrase "proximate cause" in the verdict form was an abuse of discretion, the trial court appropriately cured Plaintiff's concerns such that the trial court's alleged error would constitute a harmless one; 4) the trial court appropriately charged the jury on the issue of informed consent; 5) Plaintiff's assertion that the trial court erred in allowing Defendants to present the defense of contributory negligence to the jury is moot, because the jury did not reach this issue; 6) the trial court properly permitted Defendants to assert the defense of contributory negligence; and 7) the evidence in this case supported a verdict in favor of Defendants. Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that the jury's judgment in favor of Defendants and the trial court's decision to deny Plaintiff's Motion for a JNOV and/or New Trial should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFF'S OBJECTIONS REGARDING THE JOINTLY SUBMITTED JURY VERDICT FORM ARE UNPRESERVED ON APPEAL.

As a preliminary matter, it is important to note at the outset that Plaintiff did not specifically object to the wording of the verdict form questions that are at issue in this appeal. Under D.C. Law, this failure to preserve Plaintiff's objections is fatal to her appeal on this issue. *Townsend v. Donaldson*, 933 A.2d 282, 289 n. 10 (D.C. 2007) (stating, "a party that fails to object to specific wording in a special verdict form at trial waives that issue for appeal") (Internal citations omitted); *see also Hubbard v. Chidel*, 790 A.2d 558, 567 (D.C. 2002) (stating, a party objecting to a verdict form is required to not only "request a special verdict form to preserve a claim of error relating to fewer than all of the theories of liability (or defenses thereto) on which the jury permissibly could have based its verdict, but [also] in requesting a special verdict form, counsel must state the request with sufficient precision to indicate the specific interrogatories that should be included in the special verdict form, <u>object to their noninclusion</u>, and include the proposed special verdict form in the record on appeal."). (Emphasis added).

Similarly, Plaintiff's action in jointly submitting the jury verdict form prevents Plaintiff from appealing the wording or questions contained therein. *See Preacher v. United States*, 934 A.2d 363, 368 (D.C. 2007) ("Generally, the invited error doctrine precludes a party from asserting as error on appeal a course that he or she has induced the trial court to take.").

As detailed above, Plaintiff specifically joined Defendants in providing the trial court with a proposed verdict form, which included the question "Do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Bolen's breach of the standard of care was **a proximate** cause of Frank Hankins' death?"

App. 182-183, 188. (Emphasis added). For this reason alone, this Court should find that Plaintiff waived her objections related to the inclusion of the phrase "proximate" in the verdict form. However, this was not the only opportunity Plaintiff had to object to the verdict form.

As noted by the trial court in its Memorandum Opinion denying Plaintiff's Motion for a JNOV or New Trial, "[t]he Court specifically addressed the verdict form on the record and asked the parties to spend the evening of September 7, 2021 jointly reviewing the form." App. 339, 385. Following this instruction, the parties conferred with one another to create a jointly proposed jury verdict form. App. 339, 1553.

In making such a submission to the trial court, Plaintiff specifically objected to the verdict form's instructions related to questions seven and eight. However, Plaintiff raised no objection to the term "proximate cause" being on the jury verdict form. Nor did Plaintiff object to the informed consent issue being split into two questions – questions three and four. In point of fact, Plaintiff took the opposite position stating, "I think we are ok with putting informed consent at <u>3 and 4</u>." App. 1553. (Emphasis added). The jury verdict form that was ultimately submitted by both parties to the trial court contained the same questions about which Plaintiff now complains. App. 339-341, 343-344. Moreover, this was also not the last time that Plaintiff had an opportunity to object to the verdict form.

Following the conclusion of closing arguments, the trial court and the parties once again discussed the jury verdict form. During this discussion of the jointly submitted jury verdict form, Plaintiff had every opportunity to object to the term "proximate cause" being included. However, as outlined in detail above, Plaintiff did not. App. 1483-1486. Plaintiff additionally had the ability to object to the informed consent issue being split into two questions. However, as with the term "proximate cause," Plaintiff did not do so. App. 1483-1486.

Given the foregoing, it is clear that Plaintiff waived any objection to the subject verdict form and that her contentions are without merit. Indeed, Plaintiff's contention that her submission of a separate jury verdict form — nearly three months prior to trial — is sufficient to preserve her objections on this issue has been previously rejected by this Court. *Townsend*, 933 A.2d at 289 n.10.

In *Townsend*, although this Court stated that it did not reach the defendant's contentions with respect to the verdict form, it nonetheless specifically noted, "[w]hile [the defendant]'s proffer of his own verdict form was sufficient to preserve his general objection to [the plaintiff]'s [verdict] form, a party that fails to object to specific wording in a special verdict form at trial waives that issue for appeal." *Id.* The Court of Appeals further elaborated, "[t]he policy behind this rule, providing the trial court with notice and an opportunity to correct so that a verdict is not jeopardized, applies with particular force here, where the jury sat for over

two weeks on a case involving numerous witnesses that had taken several years to prepare." *Id*.

In the instant matter, the facts and circumstances weigh even more heavily against the party that did not object, here Plaintiff, than they did in *Townsend*. In *Townsend*, the verdict form at issue was the plaintiff's proposed verdict form, and the defendant failed to object to the specific wording of the form at trial. *Id*. In the present case, the verdict form at issue was a **joint submission**, at least with respect to the questions at issue on this appeal. App. 339, 1553. Moreover, Plaintiff failed to object to her own verdict form when the trial court reviewed the same on the record. App. 1484-1486. Therefore, as was the case in *Townsend*, this Court should reject Plaintiff's contentions in this appeal.

In sum, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision to deny Plaintiff's Motion for a JNOV and/or New Trial for two reasons. First, Plaintiff jointly submitted the jury verdict form at issue in this appeal, which bars her from objecting now to its form and content. Second, even if the joint submission of the jury form were not enough to affirm the trial court's ruling, Plaintiff's failure to object to the questions at issue is sufficient. Again, following the joint submission, and as outlined above, the trial court specifically reviewed each and every question contained within the jury verdict form with counsel for the parties. App. 1483-1486. As detailed above, Plaintiff did not raise a single objection, concern, or

complaint regarding the propriety of the questions at issue in this appeal. App. 1484-1486. Given the foregoing, it is clear that Plaintiff's untimely objections that she now asserts on appeal are unpreserved.

II. THE COURT'S INCLUSION OF THE TERM "PROXIMATE CAUSE" IN THE VERDICT FORM WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

While this Court reviews the legal accuracy of the contents of a jury charge de novo, there is a separate standard of review when the appealing party is merely objecting to the phrasing of a jury charge. Steinke v. P5 Solutions, Inc., 282 A.3d 1076, 1091-1092 (D.C. 2022); Brown v. United States, 139 A.3d 870, 875 (D.C. 2016). Indeed, '[a] trial court has **broad discretion** in fashioning appropriate jury instructions, and its refusal to grant a request for a particular instruction is not a ground for reversal if the court's charge, considered as a whole, fairly and accurately states the applicable law." Fisher v. Latney, 146 A.3d 88 (D.C. 2016); (internal quotations and citations omitted); see also Steinke, 282 A.3d 1091 (D.C. 2022) (stating, this Court reviews a trial court's decision to refuse "a particular jury instruction for abuse of discretion, 'which may be found if the court's charge as a whole does not fairly and accurately state the applicable law."") (internal citations omitted).

Taking this law together, this appeal as it relates to the phrasing of the questions on the jury verdict form are reviewed for abuse of discretion; whereas,

the substantive content of the instructions are reviewed *de novo*. In the instant matter, abuse of discretion is the applicable standard of review for this appeal, because Plaintiff's contentions do not suggest that the trial court's jury instructions are wrong on the law. Instead, Plaintiff takes issue with the trial court's supposed refusal to issue Plaintiff's particular jury verdict form. *See Blackwell v. Dass*, 6 A.3d 1274 (D.C. 2010).

In *Blackwell*, the jury was originally provided with a verdict form that separated the plaintiff's medical malpractice claim into two questions. *Id.* at 1276. "Question one, addressing breach of the standard of care, asked: 'Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that [the defendant] breached the applicable standard of care in his care and treatment of [the plaintiff]?' Question two, addressing causation, asked, 'Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that a breach in the standard of care by [the defendant] was a proximate cause of [the plaintiff's] death?" *Id.* After the jury became deadlocked on question one, they requested the trial court revise the verdict form. *Id.* at 1277.

Over the objection of the plaintiff, the trial court revised the verdict form to state, "Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that [the defendant], breached the applicable standard of care in his care and treatment of [the plaintiff] and that a breach in the standard of care by [the defendant] was a **proximate cause** of [the plaintiff's] death?") (Emphasis added). *Id.* Shortly thereafter, the jury

returned a verdict in favor of the defendant. *Id.* The plaintiff then filed an appeal. In affirming the trial court's decision, this Court held that, given the broad discretion empowered in trial courts to fashion jury instructions, it was not an abuse of discretion to revise the verdict form. *Id.* at 1279-1280.

Plaintiff's complaints with regard to questions two and four on the jury verdict form relate to the inclusion of the word "proximate" in the following questions:

- 2. Do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Bolen's breach of the standard of care was a proximate cause of Mr. Hankins' damages?
- 4. Was the failure to obtain informed consent a proximate cause of Frank Hankins' damages?

See Pltf. Br. at pp. 21-24.

As noted above, reversal is not warranted unless Plaintiff could demonstrate that these questions, considered as a whole, do not fairly and accurately state the applicable law. Clearly, this is not the case in the instant matter. As it pertains to jury instruction number two, "[i]t is well-established that claims sounding in negligence must show (1) that the defendant owed a duty to the plaintiff, (2) breach of that duty, and (3) injury to the plaintiff that was proximately caused by the breach. *Hedgepeth v. Whitman Walker Clinic*, 22 A.3d 789, 793 (D.C. 2011) (citing *Columbia v. Cooper*, 483 A.2d 317, 321 (D.C. 1984). Given this, it is clear

that the Court's second charge to the jury fairly and accurately stated the applicable law. As such, reversal is not warranted.

Similarly, "[f]or a Plaintiff to prevail on an informed consent claim, Plaintiff must prove that (1) there was an undisclosed risk that was material; (2) that risk materialized; and (3) Plaintiff would not have consented to the recommendations if he had been informed of the risk." *Miller-McGee v. Washington Hosp. Ctr.*, 920 A.2d 430, 440 (D.C. 2007). In answering a certified question from the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit, this Court provided the following statement of law regarding informed consent:

Ordinarily, in a medical malpractice case, expert testimony is required in order to prove ... causation. This requirement in medical malpractice cases generally also applies to that class of malpractice cases specifically claiming lack of informed consent. For example, proof of causation remains an element of such a claim. As in malpractice actions generally, there must be a causal relationship between the physician's failure to adequately divulge and damage to the patient.

Lasley v. Georgetown University, 688 A.2d 1381 (D.C. 1997) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Given this clear statement of law by this Court, there can be no question that the trial court's jury charges on causation were a correct statement of law such that a denial of Plaintiff's appeal is warranted in this case. Furthermore, while Plaintiff is correct that the DC Standardized Jury Instructions removed the word "proximate" from its instructions, she has failed to provide this Court with any law

whatsoever that stands for the proposition that including the term "proximate" in a verdict form question is an abuse of discretion, let alone one that requires reversal.

Plaintiff does not provide such law, because it does not exist. Indeed, the second comment to this jury instruction (upon which Plaintiff relies) notes, "[t]he term 'proximate' has been removed from this Instruction because it has **no import** for the layperson and may lead to confusion." (Emphasis added). Clearly, something that is considered to be of "no import" cannot now be considered of such importance that it warranted the granting of Plaintiff's Motion for a JNOV and/or a New Trial. Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling and deny Plaintiff's appeal.

III. EVEN IF INCLUDING THE PHRASE "PROXIMATE CAUSE" IN THE VERDICT FORM WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY CURED PLAINTIFF'S CONCERNS.

Assuming *arguendo* this Court finds that Plaintiff timely raised an objection to the inclusion of the word "proximate" in the verdict form, and that the inclusion of the word "proximate" in the verdict form was an abuse of discretion (or that it was an improper instruction under *de novo* review), there was no prejudice or harm to Plaintiff by the term's inclusion in the verdict form. Following the submission of the verdict form to the jury, the jury sent a question to the trial court. The question was as follows: "Hello, can you please provide a definition for proximate cause as featured in the verdict form. Thank you." App. 1520.

In response to this question, the trial court and the parties had a discussion regarding how to respond. Two options were debated during this discussion: first, the court and the parties considered directing the jury to DC Standardized Jury Instructions 5.12 (cause defined) and 9.10 (professional liability – cause defined); and second, the court and the parties considered generally referring the jury back to the jury instructions without direction. App. 1520-1524. Had Plaintiff's counsel consented, the jury would have been instructed proximate cause meant:

An act, or a failure to act, causes harm if it played a substantial part in bringing about the harm. In addition, the harm must be either a direct result or a reasonably probable consequence of the act or failure to act.

D.C. Std. Civ. Jury Instr. No. 5-12

An act, or failure to act, is deemed to have caused harm if it was a substantial factor in bringing about the harm. In addition, the harm must be either a direct result or a reasonably probable consequence of [Defendant's] act(s) or failure(s) to act.

If [Plaintiff] would have suffered the same harm even if [Defendant's] conduct had not been negligent, then [Defendant's] conduct is not a substantial factor in causing the harm.

D.C. Std. Civ. Jury Instr. No. 9-10.

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